CHEMICAL HERITAGE FOUNDATION

LINUS PAULING

Transcript of an Interview Conducted by

Jeffrey L. Sturchio

in

Denver, Colorado

on

6 April 1987

(With Subsequent Additions and Corrections)

THE BECKMAN CENTER FOR THE HISTORY OF CHEMISTRY

Oral History Program

RELEASE FORM

This document contains my understanding and agreement with the Beckman Center for the History of Chemistry with respect to my participation in a tape-recorded interview conducted by Jeffrey L. Sturchio on <u>6 April 1987</u> I have read the transcript supplied by the Beckman Center and returned it with my corrections and emendations.

- 1. The tapes and corrected transcript (collectively called the "Work") will be maintained by the Beckman Center and made available in accordance with general policies for research and other scholarly purposes.
- 2. I hereby grant, assign, and transfer to the Beckman Center all right, title, and interest in the Work, including the literary rights and the copyright, except that I shall retain the right to copy, use and publish the Work in part or in full until my death.
- 3. The manuscript may be read and the tape(s) heard by scholars approved by the Beckman Center subject to the restrictions listed below. The scholar pledges not to quote from, cite, or reproduce by any means this material except with the written permission of the Beckman Center.
- 4. I wish to place the following conditions that I have checked below upon the use of this interview. I understand that the Beckman Center will enforce my wishes until the time of my death, when any restrictions will be removed.
 - a. ____ No restrictions for access.
 - b. _____ My permission required to quote, cite, or reproduce.
 - C. _____ My permission required for access to the entire document and all tapes.

This constitutes our entire and complete understanding.

(Signature) _____ (Date) _5Ans

(Revised 20 February 1989)

This interview has been designated as Free Access.

One may view, quote from, cite, or reproduce the oral history with the permission of CHF.

Please note: Users citing this interview for purposes of publication are obliged under the terms of the Chemical Heritage Foundation Oral History Program to credit CHF using the format below:

Linus Pauling, interview by Jeffrey L. Sturchio at Executive Tower Inn, Denver, Colorado, 6 April 1987 (Philadelphia: Chemical Heritage Foundation, Oral History Transcript # 0067).



The Chemical Heritage Foundation (CHF) serves the community of the chemical and molecular sciences, and the wider public, by treasuring the past, educating the present, and inspiring the future. CHF maintains a world-class collection of materials that document the history and heritage of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; encourages research in CHF collections; and carries out a program of outreach and interpretation in order to advance an understanding of the role of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; and industries in shaping society.

1901 Born in Portland, Oregon on 28 February

Education

- 1922 B.S., chemical engineering, Oregon State College
- 1925 Ph.D., physical chemistry and mathematical physics, summa cum laude, California Institute of Technology

Professional Experience

1925-1926 1926-1927	National Research Council Fellow Guggenheim Fellow Universities of Münich Zürich
1920 1927	and Copenhagen
	California Institute of Technology
1922-1925	Teaching Fellow
1923-1927	Research Associate
1927-1929	Assistant Professor
1929-1931	Associate Professor
1931-1964	Professor
1936-1958	Chairman, Division of Chemistry and Chemical
	Engineering
1936-1958	Director, Gates and Crellin Chemical Laboratories
1945-1948	Member, Executive Committee, Board of Trustees
1963-1967	Research Professor, Center for Study of Democratic
1967-1969	Professor of Chemistry, University of California,
	Stanford University
1969-1974	Drofessor of Chemistry
1974-	Professor Emeritus
1971	Linus Pauling Institute of Science and Medicine
1973-1975	President
1978-1979	President
1973-	Research professor

Honors

Among the numerous awards in chemistry are:

- 1931 Langmuir Prize, American Chemical Society
- 1941 Nichols Medal, New York Section, American Chemical Society
- 1947 Davy Medal, Royal Society
- 1948 United States Presidential Medal for Merit
- 1952 Pasteur Medal, Biochemical Society of France
- 1954 Nobel Prize, Chemistry
- 1955 Addis Medal, National Nephrosis Foundation

- 1955 Phillips Memorial Award, American College of Physicians
- 1956 Avogadro Medal, Italian Academy of Science
- 1957 Paul Sabatier Medal
- 1957 Pierre Fermat Medal in Mathematics
- 1957 International Grotius Medal
- 1963 Nobel Peace Prize
- 1965 Order of Merit, Republic of Italy
- 1965 Medal, Academy of the Rumanian People's Republic
- 1966 Linus Pauling Medal
- 1966 Silver Medal, Institute of France
- 1966 Supreme Peace Sponsor, World Fellowship of Religion
- 1972 United States National Medal of Science
- 1972 International Lenin Peace Prize
- 1978 Lomonosov Medal, USSR Academy of Science
- 1979 Medal for Chemical Sciences, National Academy of Science
- 1984 Priestley Medal, American Chemical Society
- 1984 Award for Chemistry, Arthur M. Sackler Foundation
- 1987 Award in Chemical Education, American Chemical Society
- 1989 Vannevar Bush Award, National Science Board
- 1990 Richard C. Tolman Medal, Southern California Section, American Chemical Society

ABSTRACT

Linus Pauling begins this interview by describing his early interest in science. While growing up in Portland, Oregon, he collected laboratory equipment and carried out chemistry experiments in his home. He also worked in the chemistry laboratory of his high school. Pauling supported himself through his undergraduate years at Oregon State Agricultural College by working in the chemistry department stockroom and assisting an engineering professor. During graduate school at Caltech, he learned x-ray crystallography from Roscoe Dickinson and published his first paper. Pauling continued to use crystallography to attack more complex chemical problems. In 1926, Pauling was awarded a Guggenheim Fellowships to study in Europe. In Zürich, he carried out research on the interaction of two helium atoms which later led him to develop the theory of the three-electron bond. Pauling concludes this interview with his return to Caltech as assistant professor of chemistry.

INTERVIEWER

Jeffrey L. Sturchio received an A.B. in history from Princeton University and a Ph.D. in the history and sociology of science from the University of Pennsylvania. He was Associate Director of the Beckman Center for the History of Chemistry from 1984 to 1988, and has held teaching appointments at the New Jersey Institute of Technology, Rutgers University, and the University of Pennsylvania as well as a fellowship at the Smithsonian Institution's National Museum of American History. After a sojourn on the senior staff of the AT&T Archives, Dr. Sturchio joined Merck & Co., Inc. as Corporate Archivist in June 1989. He is currently Director, Science & Technology Policy, in the Public Affairs Department at Merck.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Early Interest in Science

Growing up in Portland, Oregon. Collects laboratory equipment and carries out first chemistry experiments. Sisters and brothers. Takes high school chemistry and works in the lab after school.

- 5 Oregon Agricultural College Chemistry textbooks, classes and independent study. Supports self through college. Applies to several graduate schools and accepts appointment at Caltech.
- 10 Caltech Learns x-ray crystallography from Roscoe Dickinson. Publishes first paper. Studies physical science with Richard C. Tolman. Mathematics. Personal interaction with faculty and students. Publishes series of papers with Dickinson. Studies quantum mechanics.
- 18 Guggenheim Fellowship in Europe Münich. Expands Gregor Wentzel's method to calculate properties of atoms and ions. Zürich. Works on problem of helium atom interaction. Studies wave mechanics. American friends.
- 22 Return to Caltech Influence of A. A. Noyes. Becomes assistant professor of chemistry. Berkeley.
- 25 Notes
- 29 Index

- 1. See, for example
 - Linus Pauling, "Early Work on X-ray Diffraction in the California Institute of Technology," in P. P. Ewald, ed., <u>Fifty Years of X-ray Diffraction</u> (Utrecht: International Union of Crystallography, 1962); 623-628.
 - b. Linus Pauling, "Problems of Inorganic Structures," in
 P. P. Ewald, ed., Fifty Years of X-ray Diffraction (Utrecht: International Union of Crystallography, 1962); 136-146.
 - c. Linus Pauling, "Fifty Years of Physical Chemistry in the California Institute of Technology," <u>Annual Review</u> of Physical Chemistry, 16 (1965): 347-360.
 - d. Linus Pauling, "Fifty Years of Progress in Structural Chemistry and Molecular Biology," <u>Daedalus</u>, 50 (1970): 988-1014.
 - e. Linus Pauling, "Early Days of Molecular Biology in the California Institute of Technology," <u>Annual Review of</u> Biophysics and Biophysical Chemistry, 15 (1986): 1-9.
- 2. George M. Smith, <u>An Introductory Course in Quantitative</u> <u>Chemical Analysis</u> (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1919; rev. ed. 1921).
- 3. Ira Remsen, <u>Chemical Experiments Prepared to Accompany</u> <u>Remsen's 'Introduction to the Study of Chemistry'</u> (New York: H. Holt and Company, 1906).
- 4. John Williams White, <u>The First Greek Book</u> (Boston: Ginn & Company, 1896); <u>Series of First Lessons in Greek</u> (Boston: Ginn & Company, 1886).
- 5. Robert A. Millikan and Henry G. Gale, <u>A</u> <u>First Course in</u> Physics (New York: Ginn & Company, 1913).
- 6. William A. Granville, <u>Elements of the Differential and</u> <u>Integral Calculus</u> (Boston: Ginn & Company, 1904; 2nd. ed. 1911).
- 7. Alexander Smith, <u>Introduction to General Inorganic Chemistry</u> (New York: The Century Company, 1906; rev. ed. 1914; 3rd ed. 1917); <u>A Textbook of Elementary Chemistry</u> rev. by James Kendall (New York: The Century Company, 1914).
- 8. Earl B. Millard, <u>Physical</u> <u>Chemistry</u> <u>for</u> <u>Colleges</u> (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1st ed. 1921).
- 9. Arthur A. Noyes and Miles S. Sherrill, <u>A Course of Study in</u> Chemical Principles (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1922).

- 10. Linus Pauling, <u>General Chemistry</u> (San Francisco: W. H. Freeman and Company, 1947; 2nd ed., 1953).
- 11. Derek A. Davenport, "Linus Pauling—Chemical Educator," Journal of Chemical Education, 57 (1980): 35-37.
- 12. Don M. Yost and Albert L. Kaye, "Attempt to Prepare a Chloride or Fluoride of Xenon," Journal of the American Chemical Society 55 (1933): 3890-2; Don M. Yost, "A New Epoch in Chemistry," in H. H. Hyman, ed., Noble Gas Compounds (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1963): 21-22.
- 13. W. H. and W. L. Bragg, <u>X-rays</u> and <u>Crystal</u> <u>Structure</u> (London: G. Bell & Sons Ltd., 1915; 2nd ed. 1916; 3rd ed. 1918).
- 14. Paul Groth, <u>Chemische</u> <u>Krystallographie</u> (Leipzig: W. Engelman, 1906-1919).
- 15. Linus Pauling, "The Crystal Structure of Magnesium Stannide," Journal of the American Chemical Society, 45 (1923): 2777-2780.
- 16. Roscoe G. Dickinson and Linus Pauling, "The Crystal Structure of Molybdenite," <u>Journal of the American Chemical</u> <u>Society</u>, 45 (1923) 1466-1471.
- 17. Linus Pauling and James H. Sturdivant, "The Crystal Structure of Brookite," <u>Zeitschrift</u> <u>für</u> <u>Kristallographie</u>, Mineralogie, und Petrographie 68 (1928): 239-256.
- 18. P. D. Foote and F. L. Mohler, <u>The Origin of Spectra</u> (New York: Chemical Catalog Company, Inc., 1923).
- 19. Arnold Sommerfeld, <u>Atombau</u> <u>und</u> <u>Spektrallinien</u> (Braunschweig: F. Vieweg & Son, 1920; 2nd ed. 1923).
- 20. Gilbert N. Lewis and Merle Randall, <u>Thermodynamics and the</u> <u>Free Energy of Chemical Substances</u> (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1923).
- 21. Arnold Sommerfeld, <u>Atomic Structure and Spectral Lines</u>, translated by Henry L. Brose (London: Methuen & Company, 1923).
- 22. Edouard Goursat, <u>A</u> <u>Course</u> <u>in</u> <u>Mathematical</u> <u>Analysis</u>, translated by Earle Raymond Hedrick (Boston: Ginn & Company, 1904-1917).
- 23. E. T. Whittaker and G. N. Watson, <u>A Course of Modern</u> <u>Analysis</u> (Cambridge University Press, 2nd. ed. 1915, 3rd ed. 1920).

- 24. C. L. Burdick and E. A. Owen, "The Atomic Structure of Carborundum Determined by X-rays," <u>Journal of the American</u> Chemical Society, 40 (1918): 1749-1959.
- 25. See Gustave Albrecht, "Scientific Publications of Linus Pauling," in Alexander Rich and Norman Davidson, eds., <u>Structural Chemistry and Molecular Biology</u>, A Volume Dedicated to Linus Pauling by His Students, Colleagues, and Friends (San Francisco: W. H. Freeman Company, 1968): 887-904.
- 26. Edwin McMillan and Linus Pauling, "An X-ray Study of the Alloys of Lead and Thallium," Journal of the American Chemical Society, 49 (1927): 666-669. Anderson shared the 1936 Nobel Prize in physics. [McMillan shared the 1951 Nobel Prize with Glenn T. Seaborg.]
- 27. a. A. A. Noyes, J. L. Hoard, and K. S. Pitzer, "Argentic Salts in Acid Solution. I. Oxidation and reduction Reactions," Journal of the American Chemical Society, 57 (1935): 1221-1229.
 - b. A. A. Noyes. K. S. Pitzer, and C. L. Dunn, "Argentic Salts in Acid Solution. II. Oxidation State of Argentic Salts," <u>Journal of the American Chemical Society</u>, 57 (1935): 1229-1237.
- 28. Kenneth S. Pitzer, "The Crystal Structure of Tetraamminocadmium Perrhenate," <u>Zeitschrift für</u> <u>Kristallographie</u>, <u>Mineralogie</u>, <u>und Petrographie</u>, 92 (1935): 131-135 (in English).
- 29. Linus Pauling, "The Dynamic Model of the Chemical Bond and Its Application to the Structure of Benzene," <u>Journal of the</u> <u>American Chemical Society</u>, 48 (1926): 1132-1143.
- 30. W. Heisenberg, "Über quantentheoretische Umdeutung kinematischer und mechanischer Beziehungen" (The Translation of Kinematical and Mechanical Relations into Terms of the Quantum Theory), <u>Zeitschrift für Physik</u>, 33 (1925): 879-893.
- 31. M. Born and P. Jordan, "Zur Quantenmechanik (On Quantum Mechanics)," Zeitschrift für Physik, 34 (1925): 858-888.
- 32. See, for example, David Ridgway, "Interview with Linus Pauling," Journal of Chemical Education, 53 (1976): 471-476.
- 33. Linus Pauling, "The Influence of a Magnetic Field on the Dielectric Constant of a Diatomic Dipole Gas," <u>Physical</u> Review, 29 (1927): 145-160.

- 34. Gregor Wentzel, "Eine Schwierigkeit für die Theorie des Kreiselectrons (A Difficulty for the Theory of the Spinning Electron)," Zeitschrift für Physik, 37 (1926): 911-914.
- 35. E. Schrödinger, "A Model to Explain the Terms of the Sharp Subordinate Series," <u>Zeitschrift</u> <u>für</u> <u>Physik</u>, 4 (1921): 347-354.
- 36. Linus Pauling, "Die Abschirmungskonstanten der relativistischen oder magnetischen Röntgenstrahlendubletts" (The Screening Constants of the Relativistic or Magnetic Röntgen-ray Doublets), <u>Zeitschrift</u> <u>für</u> <u>Physik</u> 40 (1926): 344-350.
- 37. See, for example, Linus Pauling, "The Theoretical Prediction of the Physical Properties of Many-Electron Atoms and Ions. Mole Refraction, Diamagnetic Susceptibility, and Extension in Space," <u>Proceedings</u> of the Royal Society (London), A 114 (1927): 181-211.
- 38. Linus Pauling, "The Nature of the Chemical Bond. II. The One-Electron Bond and the Three-Electron Bond," Journal of the American Chemical Society, 53 (1931): 3225-3227.
- 39. Ernst A. Guillemin, <u>Communication</u> <u>Networks</u> (New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1931-1935.)
- 40. Peter Debye and Linus Pauling, "The Inter-Ionic Attraction Theory of Ionized Solutes. IV. The Influence of Variation of Dielectric Constant on the Limiting Law for Small Concentrations," <u>Journal of the American Chemical Society</u>, 47 (1925): 2129-2134.

INDEX

Α Abraham, Max, 19 Allen, Frederick J., 6 Anderson, Carl, 17 Arroyo Seco, California, 14 Atombau und Spektrallinien, 12 Atomic Structure and Spectral Lines, 12 Aydelotte, Frank, 22 в Bateman, Mrs., 15 Bateman, Henry, 13, 15 Beckman, Arnold, 8, 10 Bell, E. T., 14 Benzene, 18 Berkeley, University of California at, 8, 9, 17, 22, 23-24 Bohr theory, 18 Born, Max, 18 Brookite, 11 Burdick, C. Lalor, 16 C Cadmium, 5 CaHgBr4, 10 Caltech [California Institute of Technology], 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 18, 21, 22, 23 Chemical Principles, 6 Chemische Krystallographie, 10 Coachella Valley, California, 13 Columbia University, 5 Condon, Edward U., 21 Corvallis, Oregon, 4 D Dayton, Ohio, 21 Debye-Hückel theory, 21 Delta Upsilon fraternity, 9-10 Dennison, David, 21 Dickinson, Roscoe, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 20 Dielectric constant, 19, 21 Differential and Integral Calculus, 5 Е Eastman Kodak Company, 8 Elements of Greek, 5 Emmett, Paul, 3, 6, 8, 9, 13, 14, 15 Ewald, Paul, 11 Ewing, Fred, 17

F

Fajans, Kasimir, 21, 22 <u>Fifty Years of X-Ray Diffraction</u>, 11 Franck, James, 21 Fulton, John, 7, 8

F

Gale, Henry, 5
<u>General Chemistry</u> [Alexander Smith's], 5
Graf, Samuel H., 7
Granville, William, 5
Green, William V., 4
Guggenheim Foundation, 22
Guggenheim Fellowship, 18, 22-23
Guillemin, Ernst, 20-21
Guillemin, Victor, 20-21

н

Harvard University, 5, 8 Havighurst, Robert, 21 Hedirck, Raymond H., 13 Heitler, Walter, 20 Helium, 20 Helmer, Oscar M., 8 Heisenberg, Werner, 18 Hydrochloric acid, 2

Ι

Illinois, University of, 8, 9

J

Journal of the American Chemical Society, 9, 15 Jeffress, Lloyd Alexander, 1, 3 Jordan, P., 18 Journal of Chemical Education, 6

ĸ

 $K_2Ni_2(SO_4)_3$, 10 Kendall, James, 5

L

Lamb, Arthur B., 9 Langmuir, Irving, 6, 18 Lewis, Gilbert N., 6, 9, 15, 18, 22, 23 Eli Lilly and Company, 8 London, Fritz, 21 Lucas, Howard, 15

М

Matrix mechanics, 18 McMillan, Edwin, 17 MgAl₂, 7

```
MgCu<sub>2</sub>, 7
Mg<sub>2</sub>SN, 11
Millard, Earl, 6
Millikan, Robert, 5, 17
<u>Modern Analysis</u>, 13
Mohler, F. L., 12
Molybdenite, 11
Münich, Germany, 17, 21, 23
```

N

NACd2, 11 Napthalene, 18 National Academy of Sceinces, 15 National Research Council, 8, 16, 22, 23 Nickel sulfate hexahydrate, 10 Nitric acid, 2 North Pacific Dental College, 2 Noyes, Arthur A., 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 21, 22, 23

0

One-electron bond theory, 20 Oppenheimer, Robert, 21 Orange County, California, 13 Oregon State Agricultural College, 1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10 <u>Origin of Spectra, The</u>, 12 Oswego, Oregon, 2 Owen, E. A., 16 Owens Camp, California, 14

Р

Palm Springs, California, 13 Paradowski, Bob, 13, 23 Pasadena, California, 10, 16, 18, 21, 23 Pauli, Wolfgang, 18 Pauling, Linus birth, 1 childhood, 1 college, 5-7 early interest in science, 1-2 Europe, 18-22 father, 1 graduate school, 8, 9, 12-14 high school, 4-5 grandparents, 2-3 mother, 2, 7 sisters, 1, 3 wife, 14, 17 Pitzer, Kenneth S., 17 Portland, Oregon, 1 Potassium permanganate, 2 Potassium cyanide, 2 Potassium sulfate, 10 Purdue University, 6

Q

Quantum mechanics, 18

R

Reed College, 4 Richards, Theodore W., 9 Robertson, Alfred, 8 Robertson, Howard Percy, 14 Rowland, Floyd E., 8

ន

Shrödinger, Erwin, 19, 20, 21 Slip interference theory, 7 Smith, Alexander, 5 Smith, George M., 4 Soddy, Frederick, 22 Sommerfeld, Arnold, 12, 19, 20 Stamford, Connecticut, 8 Stephenson, Mervyn [cousin], 3 Sturdivant, Holmes, 11 Sulfuric acid, 2, 5

т

Three-electron bond theory, 20 Tolman, Richard, C., 12, 13, 17, 21, 23 Tuley, William F., 8

v

Van Vleck, J. H., 19

W

Walker, A. G., 14
Ward, Morgan, 14
Washington High School, 1
Washington, University of, 4
Watson, George N., 13
Wentzel, Gregor, 19
Whittaker, Edmund T. 13
Willamette Valley, Oregon, 1
Wiener, Norbert, 15
Wright Aeronautics Laboratory, 21
Wulf, Oliver, 15
Wyckoff, Ralph, 13

х

X-ray crystallogrphy, 10-11, 16, 20 Xenon fluoride, 6 Xenon difluoride, 6

Y

Yost, Don, 6, 7

Z Zeitschrift für Physik, 19 Zürich, Switzerland, 20, 21